
CARE, HEALTH AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Tuesday, 23 April 2019 at 1.30 pm in the Whickham Room -  Civic Centre

From the Chief Executive, Sheena Ramsey
Item Business

1  Apologies for absence 

2  Minutes of last meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

3  Gateshead Healthwatch Update and Healthwatch Continuing Care 
Recommendations (Pages 7 - 10)

Report of Gateshead Healthwatch

4  Progress Update on Dunston Hill Proposals 

Presentation and update by Michael Laing, Associate Director Community Services, 
Gateshead Care Partnership

5  Review of Work to Help People Stay at Home Safely - Final Report 
(Pages 11 - 28)

Report of Strategic Director, Care, Wellbeing and Learning

6  Work to Address the Harms Caused by Tobacco - Update on 
Recommendations (Pages 29 - 40)

Report of the Director of Public Health

7  Health and Wellbeing Board - Progress Update (Pages 41 - 50)

Report of the Strategic Director, Care, Wellbeing and Learning

8  Annual Work Programme Review and Forward Plan (Pages 51 - 58)

Joint Report of the Chief Executive and the Strategic Director, Corporate Services and 
Governance

Contact: Helen Conway  email helenconway@gateshead.gov.uk, Tel: 0191 433 3993,
Date: Monday, 15 April 2019

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



GATESHEAD METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

CARE, HEALTH AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
MEETING

Tuesday, 22 January 2019

PRESENT: Councillor S Green (Chair)

Councillor(s): M Charlton, W Dick, M Hood, I Patterson, 
J Wallace, A Wheeler, J Lee, Gibson and K McClurey

APOLOGIES: Councillor(s): C Bradley, K Ferdinand, B Goldsworthy, 
M Goldsworthy, R Mullen, J Simpson, P McNally and M Hall

CHW125 MINUTES OF LAST MEETING 

The Committee agreed the minutes of the last meeting, held on 11 December 2018 
as a correct record.

CHW126 OSC REVIEW - HELPING PEOPLE TO STAY AT HOME SAFELY - EVIDENCE 
GATHERING 

The Committee received a report and presentation as part of its review “helping 
people stay at home safely”. The Committee agreed, at its meeting on 18th June 
2018 that the review will consider how health, social care and voluntary services 
support people’s confidence and independence to live safely in their own home. The 
review will centre on the 6 core themes of:
 

         Assistive technology and digital information;
         Enablement services;
         Housing options to support independent living;
         Commissioning for enablement outcomes;
         Emergency and community services;
         Personalisation and choice.

 
The report focussed upon ‘commissioning for enablement services and outcomes’, 
the background and context for the approach and the evidence base. The report 
also highlighted how enablement can take place in different forms e.g. use of 
equipment, digital technologies and the use of trained enablers e.g. travel trainers, 
occupational therapists, and the report highlighted the ongoing work in Adult Social 
Care to promote enablement and independence for people with learning difficulties. 
 
The presentation focussed on case studies which demonstrated how enablement 
can help people stay safe at home or move on from care to become independent. 
The case studies focussed on the work of the Achieving Change Together Team.
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



The Committee were also invited to attend a drop in session displaying the range of 
assisted technologies, which will take place on 12 February 2019 from 
8.30 am – 12.30 pm in the Whickham Room.
 

RESOLVED - i) That the information be noted
 ii) That further reports be presented to Committee in due course

 

CHW127 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD PROGRESS UPDATE 

The Committee received a report providing an update on the work of the Gateshead 
Health and Wellbeing Board for the six month period April to September 2018.
 
The following key issues considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board:
 

         Needs Assessments
         Gateshead Healthy Weight Needs Assessment
         Integrating Health and Care in Gateshead 
         Gateshead Local Health and Care System Mini-Peer Review
         Strategic and Operational Plans
         Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh
         Children and Young People Mental Health Local Transformation Plan
         Children and Young People in Care and Care Leavers Strategy
         Assurance/Performance Management

 
RESOLVED - i) That the information be noted
 ii) That  a further six month update be provided in due course

 

CHW128 WORK PROGRAMME 2018-19 AND DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PROGRAMME 
FOR 2019-20 

The Committee received a report, which was set out in two parts. The first part 
setting out the provisional work programme for Care, Health and Wellbeing  
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the municipal year 2018-19 and the second 
part detailing the current position/next steps in the development of the work 
programme for the municipal year 2019-20.
 
The Appendix appended to the main report set out the work programme as it 
currently stands and highlights proposed changes to the programme in bold and 
italics for ease of identification. 
 
The process for developing all the OSC work programmes for 2019-20 is now 
underway and views are currently being sought from councillors’ on potential priority 
issues for inclusion which fall within the remits of the relevant OSCs and support the 
5 pledges under the Thrive agenda.
 
The Committee were advised that subsequently, in line with usual practice, partner 
organisations will be consulted on the emerging themes for each OSC for 2019-20 
with a view to OSCs considering any feedback/additional suggestions/endorsing 

Page 4



their respective work programmes at their March/April 2019 OSC meetings and 
referring them to Council for agreement.
 

RESOLVED - i) That the information be noted
 ii) Note that further reports on the 2018-19 work programme will be 

brought to the Committee to identify any additional policy issues 
which the Committee may be asked to consider.

 iii) Agreed to receive further updates on the emerging themes for 
2019-20 in due course.

 

Chair……….………………..

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



CARE HEALTH AND WELLBEING
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

23 April 2019

TITLE OF REPORT: NHS Continuing Health Care 

REPORT OF: Report of Gateshead Healthwatch

Summary

1. To follow up with the NGCCG and Gateshead Council recommendations from 
Healthwatch Gateshead/ Healthwatch Newcastle report on Continuing 
Healthcare (CHC) March 2018

____________________________________________________________

Background

2. NHS Continuing Health Care (CHC) is a package of ongoing care that is 
arranged and funded solely by the NHS where the individual has been found to 
have a ‘primary health need’.

3. Both Healthwatch Gateshead and Healthwatch Newcastle had received 
feedback, issues, concerns and points of view from residents about their 
experiences of the CHC process and this topic was voted by the community as 
a priority area for both Healthwatch in 2017/18. 

4. In June 2018 Healthwatch Gateshead presented a report on Continuing 
Healthcare to OSC. The report and included a series of recommendations 
around the following areas:

 Recommendation 1 - Information 

Newcastle Gateshead CCG should develop a communication plan to make 
professionals aware of the information that currently exists, as well as directing 
people to its website which displays the NHS England film about CHC at 
www.newcastlegatesheadccg.nhs.uk/your-health/continuing-healthcare
There are also public information leaflets on the direct.gov website 

Recommendation 2 - Hospital discharge and the CHC process 

Newcastle Gateshead CCG to continue to develop consistent training around 
CHC checklist completion to make practice between Newcastle and Gateshead 
consistent, ensuring that service users, relatives and carers are fully involved.

Recommendation 3 - Quality assurance of CHC assessments

Page 7

Agenda Item 3

http://www.newcastlegatesheadccg.nhs.uk/your-health/continuing-healthcare
http://www.newcastlegatesheadccg.nhs.uk/your-health/continuing-healthcare
http://www.newcastlegatesheadccg.nhs.uk/your-health/continuing-healthcare
http://www.newcastlegatesheadccg.nhs.uk/your-health/continuing-healthcare


Newcastle Gateshead CCG to work with Newcastle and Gateshead local 
authorities to agree and implement a consistent approach to dealing with 
people who are going through the CHC assessment process and are ready for 
discharge from hospital.

Recommendation 4 - Getting regular feedback from patients and their carers 

Newcastle Gateshead CCG should develop methods to gather feedback 
regarding people’s CHC journey to inform continued improvement.

Recommendation 5 - Children in transition into adult services

Newcastle and Gateshead local authorities to ensure that children’s social 
workers are aware of their duty to refer children in line with the national 
framework on CHC and transition. Regular training and audit should take 
place to ensure this happens.

Recommendation 6 - Appeals process

Newcastle Gateshead CCG should ensure that people are notified of their 
right to appeal and directed to support and information regarding this.

Newcastle Gateshead CCG should gather feedback following the appeals 
process.

Healthwatch Gateshead received the following response to the draft report from 
Gateshead Council – Service Director on recommendation 5 which was included in 
the final report.

There is work we need to do to make things better for children young people and 
families and we are determined to get things right. We are working with internal 
managers to share the findings and will also carry out a full audit on process policies 
and procedures within the team in April 2018. We are currently discussing how we 
approach transition in Gateshead.

Healthwatch Gateshead would welcome an update on this recommendation

We have also received brief updates on the progress of the recommendations within 
the report from NGCCG but would welcome more in-depth information.
We are encouraged by the implementation of ward champions at the QE hospital 
and the joint working with Nurse assessors to identify patients who may need a CHC 
checklist completed.

However, further to HWG requests, we are not aware of any progress on 
recommendation 1 Information. The current information on NGCCG website is poor, 
and the link to the information film and resources by NHS England do not appear to 
be active. 

Healthwatch Gateshead would welcome an update on this recommendation

Page 8



For information as of 09/04/19

NGCCG website on CHC 

Healthwatch England website on CHC 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



CARE HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE
23 April 2019

TITLE OF REPORT: Review of Work to help people to stay home safely – 
                                            Final Report

REPORT OF: Caroline O’Neill, Strategic Director Care, Wellbeing 
                                           And Learning

SUMMARY

This report sets out the findings of the Review of Work to help people to stay home 
safely.  The review has investigated how health, social care and voluntary sector 
services in Gateshead support people to live at home safely.  The review has focused 
on how successful these services are in terms of supporting people to be independent 
and providing accounts from people who work in and receive services and examining 
areas where there may be scope for improvement/greater joint working with partners 
in the NHS and voluntary sector. 

Background / current position

1. Vision 2030 sets out the 6 Big Ideas for Gateshead. Of these, “Active and Healthy 
Gateshead” resolves to provide support to encourage people to improve their 
health and lifestyle. 

The five year Council Plan sets out how Gateshead will be a healthy, inclusive 
and nurturing place for all. Live Well Gateshead describes a healthy, inclusive 
and nurturing place for all

• a destination of choice for families with excellent, affordable housing
• where children have the best start in life
• where older people are independent and part of community life
• where people lead healthy lifestyles, with more people living longer
• where those who need help can get it easily with agencies working together
• a welcoming place where people feel safe

The Councils Thrive agenda calls upon residents, businesses, partners and 
employees to get involved in plans to help make Gateshead a place where 
everyone can thrive; to put people and families at the heart of everything we do; 
tackle inequality so people have a fair chance; and to support our communities to 
support themselves and each other.

Care, Health & Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed that the focus 
of its review in 2018-19 would be “helping people to stay at home safely”.  The 
review has been carried out over a six month period and a report has been prepared 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



on behalf of the Committee setting out key findings and suggested 
recommendations.

Report Structure

2. This report sets out the findings of the Care, Health and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in relation to work to help people stay at home safely.

3. The report includes:
 The scope and aim of the review
 How the review was undertaken
 Summaries of key points from evidence gathering sessions
 Analysis – issues and challenges?
 Recommendations

Aims of the Review

4. The scope of the review was to examine how health, social care and voluntary 
sector services in Gateshead support people in Gateshead to live at home safely; 
particularly focusing on:

 
 Assistive technology and digital information; 
 Enablement services;
 Housing options to support independent living; 
 Commissioning for enablement outcomes; 
 Emergency and community services; 
 Personalisation and choice. 

    The Committee also considered the range and extent of current activity in these   
    areas, with a view to agreeing a set of recommendations.

How the review was undertaken – a methodology
5. The review comprised of four evidence gathering sessions. Evidence was sought 

from Gateshead Council Adult Social Care, Commissioning and Quality 
Assurance, Public Health, the Newcastle and Gateshead Clinical Commissioning 
Group, Gateshead Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, and a range of Voluntary 
and Community Sector organisations. 

First evidence gathering summary

Enablement, Emergency and Community Services
6. Presenters, Keith Hogan and Jean Kielty (Local Authority) and Steph Robinson 

(Gateshead Health Foundation Trust) provided an overview of the Enablement, 
Emergency and Community Services that are provided within Gateshead to enable 
people to continue living safely and independently at home.

Page 12



7. Keith described how PRIME and Rapid Response (domiciliary care) and Promoting 
Independence Centres of Eastwood, Shadon House and Southernwood provide 
support to people to attain outcomes against allotted timescales, with the 
overarching aim to ensure that a service user is able to be supported at home with 
either no or a minimal level of support.  

8. High quality outcomes were reported:
 80% of individuals who use the service attain their Enablement goals and of 

those individuals who used PRIME after being discharged from hospital, 
89.4% were still living at home 91 days after leaving hospital. 

 The Council provides a domiciliary care Rapid Response service that 
provides immediate support (average 27 minute response time) to people 
in a crisis.  The service won the ‘Putting People First Personalisation’ 
award at the 2017 North East Care Awards.

 Eastwood’s integrated social and health-based team delivering 
rehabilitation, reablement and recovery provision has enabled 79% of frail 
individuals to return home.

 Shadon House has an ‘outstanding’ CQC rating.  One professional 
commented during the inspection “It takes consummate professionals to 
achieve what Shadon House staff members do, this is social care 
excellence”.

9. Steph described how the use of the trusted assessor model since May 2017 was 
achieving benefits for health and social care services by reducing the numbers and 
waiting times of people awaiting discharge from hospital and helping them to move 
from hospital back home or to seamlessly move to another setting. The success of 
the trusted assessor model in Eastwood had led to the expansion of the model into 
the Local Authority domiciliary care Rapid Response and PRIME services, with the 
use of discharge liaison nurses.   It was confirmed that the trusted assessor model 
had been pivotal in reducing hospital attendances for people using Eastwood by 
50%.

10.Jean, described how, the Local Authority social work assessment teams, whose 
role is to support our older population and those people with complex Physical, 
Mental Health and Learning Disability, are working closely with the QE Trust in 
reducing the number of delayed discharges to prevent people staying in hospital 
longer than necessary and being at risk of hospital acquired infection as well as 
blocking beds for those who need a hospital admission.

11.Jean also described the Bridging Service which had commenced as a three-month 
trial in which independent sector domiciliary care providers were serving to 
facilitate hospital discharges by facilitating a home care package for people who 
were ready to go home.  The providers were using a small team of salaried staff 

Page 13



who deliver support to enable people with a long-term care need to be discharged 
and receive support for a short period of time whilst waiting a long-term package of 
care.  The bridging service Pilot had been evaluated and overall proved very 
successful. It enabled over fifty people to return home on the day they were fit to 
leave hospital.  The overall satisfaction from service users and their families was 
really high with the vast majority rating the service good to excellent.  The Council 
agreed that the service was required all year round and have commissioned the 
service with three providers (Clece Care, Comfort Call and Dale Care) from 
September 2017 and is ongoing but will be up for review May 2019.

12.An overview of the function of the QE Hospital social work team, in supporting safe 
hospital discharges, with attendance at daily “board rounds”, weekly surge 
meetings, winter planning meetings and patient flow meetings, was also provided.  

13.As part of the review of the Council’s Adult Social Care Assessment model, two 
locality teams have been developed who work across the 5 geographical areas. 
These teams work with people aged 18+ who have a physical health problem and 
people with an organic mental health problem which primarily will be older people.

Second evidence gathering summary

Sheltered Housing Service – keeping people safe at home
 
14.Michelle Muldoon-Smith (Older Persons Housing Manager, The Gateshead 

Housing Company) gave an overview Gateshead Sheltered Housing and specialist 
support to enable people to live independently.

15.Michelle described the support planning process and ongoing support provided by 
the Sheltered housing team to sustain quality of life and sustain tenancies.

16.Older people living in sheltered housing benefit from focussed risk management 
and compliance checks and ongoing review and support in partnership with Tyne 
and Wear Fire service. Legionella and asbestos monitoring is managed at each 
site to reduce risks for vulnerable older people 

17.Examples were provided of the vital ways the housing company enable people to 
stay healthy, reducing hospital admissions in partnership with the Councils falls 
prevention strategy. 

18.Some case studies were presented to demonstrate ongoing work with communities 
to help keep safe for example the Hen Power Project, run by Equal Arts which 
sees older people keeping hens to reduce loneliness and depression and improve 
well-being. The older persons team also work in partnership with Gateshead 
Council to develop intergenerational get-together sessions with local schools in 
Pelew and Bill Quay.

19.Michelle also provided an overview of the work in community to help keep older 
people skilled and training via the Company Moving Forward Programme. 

Page 14



20.Barry Norman (Commissioning Officer, Gateshead Council) gave a presentation on 
the Extra Care provision within the Borough 

21. In Gateshead in 2011, there were a total of 12,138 (34.4%) people 65 years of age 
or older living alone.  Older people spend more time on their homes and immediate 
neighbourhoods than any other age group.  Sheltered Housing helps address this 
by providing a range of social activities and support networks. One example of this 
includes The Hen Power project, run by North East Charity Equal Arts which sees 
older people keeping hens to reduce depression, loneliness and improve well-
being. In 2013, the project at Wood Green attracted press and television coverage 
from all round the world. Film crews from Japan to Sweden have visited the 
scheme to speak to the residents about the difference keeping chickens has made 
to their lives and that of the community in Bill Quay. Just last week ITV were at the 
scheme filming a documentary. 

22.Bensham Court is now part of the national Safe Places scheme. The scheme aims 
to support vulnerable people who find themselves scared or at risk while out and 
about in the local community. Difficulties could include feeling unwell, having an 
accident, becoming lost, being bullied or having something stolen. Bensham 
Court’s lounge is now one of the Safe Places for individuals to come to if they need 
help. Here they will receive support from the Mobile Sheltered Scheme Officer and 
the residents to keep them safe until contact can be made with family members or 
support agencies.

23.ECH has been in Gateshead for nearly 20 years as the Council worked in 
partnership with Housing and Care 21 to support the development of 4 schemes 
across the borough.

24.A further 2 schemes were built around 8 years later; Callendar Court which was a 
redevelopment and managed by Housing and Care 21, and Angel Court which was 
a new build owned and managed by the Council via the Housing Company.

25.Extra Care Housing (ECH) for Older People is a self-evident tried and tested model 
throughout the UK.   The principle of ECH is to allow someone to live 
independently with support on site 24 hour per day.

Third evidence gathering summary

Assistive and Digital Technologies.

26.Lorinda Russell gave an overview of the current and future use of Assistive 
Technology and Roger Abbot presented details of the digital work currently going 
within Adult Social Care.  

Assistive Technology

27.An overview of the current types of Assistive Technology being facilitated and 
details of the growing market place and how Assistive Technology is helping to 
retain independent living for Gateshead residents was provided.  Examples 

Page 15



included:-
a. Responding to and Prevention of Falls
b. Learning Disabilities
c. Dementia
d. Keeping residents safe in the community
e. Assessing clients 
f. Intelligent Care
g. Free Telecare offer

28.Case studies were presented showing the impact for clients and their carers using 
Assistive Technology and the difference it had made both to their wellbeing and 
quality of life. 

Digital Adult Social Care

Research on the front door to Adult Social Care had shown that: -

29.High call volumes – an average of 3,171 per month (March – May 2018)
h. Initial 37% of calls abandoned before they reached an agent
i. Further 23% abandoned once call hits the telephony queue
j. Overall call abandonment rate of 60%
k. Call talk time averages 15 mins
l. More time was spent calling back service users rather receiving calls in 

the first instance 

30.High numbers of email – 1,275 per month on average
m. Email rarely contains all the information required so staff spend time in 

repeat contact
n. Email response time could be over 1 week, sometimes as long as 5 

weeks

31.The Digital Gateshead programme made a commitment to provide resource to 
help improve the Adult Social Care Front Door project through improved IT, 
telephony, process mapping tools and digital services in order to:

 Help the Adult Social Care Direct team manage the demand on the service
 Reduce telephone contact, queue and wait times
 Promote the input of clean useful data to avoid waste
 Improve efficiency in the referral to the wider ASC team
 Increase awareness of ASC services with the public
 Improve the Customer Experience
 Channel shift to online form processes and therefore reduce contact by both 

telephone and email
 Reduce contact for further information whilst providing better quality information 

on www.gateshead.gov.uk and over the phone

Page 16

http://www.gateshead.gov.uk/


 Provide customer data and intelligence 
 Promote self-service and signposting 

32.On 12th November 2018 the ASC email address was removed from the website 
and replaced with the following online forms:

 Initial Care Assessment
 Care and support review
 General enquiry form

The forms will be reviewed and amended as required to ensure there is continuous 
improvement. The data and customer insight we receive from the launch of this new 
digital service will help inform future decision making. Particularly with the 
procurement of the new Social Care system.

Fourth evidence gathering summary

Enablement

33.Behnam Khazaeli and Louise Hill provided information on how enablement can 
help people to stay at home or move on from care to become independent and 
provided case studies focusing on the work of the Achieving Change Together 
team.

34. It was highlighted that reablement has been found to be cost-effective in terms of 
improving health and social care outcomes for service users. Glendinning et al 
(2010) found that, in terms of health-related quality of life, at a willingness to pay 
threshold of £30,000 per outcome gain, there was a 99% probability that 
reablement was cost-effective if both health and social care costs were considered 
(and just under 100% if social care costs alone were included). For social care 
related outcomes, using the same threshold level, they found a 78% probability 
that reablement was cost-effective (98% if only social care costs were included).

35.Lewin et al (2013) found that individuals who had received a reablement service 
were less likely to use any kind of home care service over the next three years or a 
personal care service for nearly five years, compared to individuals who had 
received a conventional home care service.

36.23% of users of a home care reablement scheme offered by Norfolk County 
Council ceased the service with no further requirement for support. Care hours for 
those going on to longer term care were reduced by 90% (Allen and Glasby 2010).

37.Outcomes in respect of reablement services in Glasgow (based on 181 service 
users) demonstrated that, where service users fully completed reablement, service 
delivery achieved and exceeded the target reduction in ongoing homecare hours 
provision: the target reduction was 30% whereas analysis indicated that a 51.5% 
reduction had been achieved (Joint Improvement Team 2014).

Page 17



38. In Northern Ireland, it has been reported that approximately 4750 older people 
benefitted from reablement in 2014. This supported them to live independently at 
home and 45% were able to be discharged with no statutory service required 
(Health and Social Care Board 2014).

39. In Wales, over 70% of people who had received reablement services did not need 
further ongoing support, representing a benefit to not only service users but to 
Local Authorities and Local Health Boards (Social Services Improvement Agency 
2013).

40.The Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) has published a SCIE guide based 
on research and practice evidence about the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness 
of reablement (SCIE, 2013). It draws on approximately 10 studies published 
between January 2011 and November 2012 including 2 randomised controlled 
trials. The underpinning research for this review shows that “reablement is a very 
promising practice”. In particular, there is good evidence that reablement ‘improves 
service outcomes (prolongs people’s ability to live at home and removes or 
reduces the need for standard home care)”. Studies indicate a slightly higher cost 
than traditional home care but suggest a strong probability of cost savings in the 
long term.

41.The evidence base around enablement continues to grow nationally, there is a 
limited amount of very high-quality evidence available, there are pockets of 
evidence (as highlighted above) which suggest that reablement services are cost-
effective, have positive outcomes for the user and for health and social care staff, 
and can be delivered in many different ways. The latter means there are 
inconsistencies across the country in relation to spending on reablement services 
and what is defined as a reablement service.

42.The evidence base also demonstrates that although there is no single ‘gold 
standard’ delivery model for reablement, there are several examples nationally of 
different service delivery models. It is not clear from the evidence how effective 
these models are. These may be helpful to consider when looking at service 
options, but caution must be taken in classifying them as ‘best practice’ models of 
delivery.

Issues / Challenges Emerging

43.Enablement, Emergency and Community Services:

a) The Gateshead Health and Care system is serving as the catalyst to integrate   
health and social care services. An example of this is the creation of one single 
rapid response team that incorporates staff skilled in urgent nursing care, 
domiciliary care, palliative care, mental health and intermediate care.

b)  Need to expand trusted assessor model to reduce duplication between health 
and social care teams

c) Requirement to increase capacity for the Social Work team based at QEH to 
deal with greater complexity of social care cases

Page 18



d) OSC Committee members were complimentary of the standards of service 
provision that they observed during their visits to Blaydon Resource Centre, 
Shadon House and Eastwood Promoting Independence Centre on Tuesday 9th 
October 2018.

Sheltered Housing Service:

e) The Gateshead Housing Company must work in close partnership with 
Gateshead Council to provide key services to enable people to stay healthy 
and reduce hospital admissions and pressure on Adult Social Care budgets.  

f) Embed Health and safety and compliance checks and improve monitoring 
systems for efficient auditing and reporting. 

g) Continue to work with customers to improve outside spaces to improve security 
and facilities and create opportunities for social inclusion 

Technology:
h) Over the next 10-15 years in Gateshead we will see an ageing population and 

we will need to maximise the benefits and opportunities provided by Assistive 
Technology, bringing these to the heart of our social care offer, working with 
Services, carers and communities to support healthy, fulfilled and independent 
lives. 

i) Move from analogue telephone lines to Internet Protocol by 2025, ensuring that 
all equipment we currently have is compatible.

Reablement:
j) There is a recognised national, regional and local issue in terms of the 

recruitment and retention of the Adult Social Care workforce, particularly in 
respect of the workforce that is employed by the Independent Care Sector. 
System wide approaches are required to tackle this issue, alongside the 
national actions required from Central Government, in terms of setting out a 
new approach for Adult Social Care within the long awaited Green Paper, and 
in terms of addressing the workforce crisis.

k) It is therefore recommended to look at investing in an enablement approach 
with the new home care model.  There is an opportunity to pilot this with current 
providers to develop an evidence base before remodelling the current 
approach. The commissioning team would like to take a pilot approach where 
each of the three block providers recruit 2 workers each for a 6-month period to 
look at reducing packages for people who are already within their services.  
The incentives for providers are to reduce packages which in turn will free up 
workers to support other people who are waiting for care to commence.  The 
pilot would enable Gateshead to test out an enablement approach and help 
build the evidence base to help inform the remodelling of the new Home Care 
model for Gateshead. 

l) All the national and regional research shows that an enablement approach 
does reduce cost pressures to Local Authorities long term budgets.  We need 
to measure the impact for Gateshead and whether there is an opportunity to 

Page 19



either prioritise our existing resources for people who have identified long term 
needs or increase capacity via either additional resources or different delivery 
approaches for alternative commissioned contracts. 

m) Alongside these approaches, work will be progressed with health and regional 
colleagues in terms the recruitment, retention and training of the whole Health 
and Social Care workforce

Draft Recommendations

Recommendation 1: To explore potential delivery models (with colleagues in health), 
in relation to the prevention of admissions to hospital for those people who arrive at 
A&E/Urgent Care, building on best practice evidence nationally and regionally. 

Recommendation 2: To work with partners in the Council, the ADASS regional 
team, and the ICS workforce stream to develop career pathways for health and 
social care, in order to address the workforce issues across the sectors. 

Recommendation 3: To further develop the Extra Care offer in Gateshead, in 
particular focusing on the provision of Dementia Specific Extra Care provision, which 
can meet the needs of people with cognitive impairment, and enable them to 
continue living in the community, thereby preventing admissions to care.

Recommendation 4: To continue to further develop the enablement offer within the 
services the Council provides and commissions, thereby preventing more people 
from requiring long term care.

Recommendation 5: To continue to work with NHS colleagues and commissioned 
providers to continue the downward trajectory of Delayed Transfers of Care 
(DTOCs), enabling people to be “discharged to assess”, and reducing delayed 
transfers of care from hospital.

Recommendation 6:  To undertake a systematic review of all assessment functions, 
to explore the potential to introduce “Trusted Assessor” models, thereby reducing 
duplication across the system whilst improving the journey for people using health and 
care services. 

Recommendation 7: Develop and operationalise an Assistive Technology strategy, 
including the opportunity to learn from local, regional and national technology 
projects. 

43. It is recommended that the Care Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee gives its views on the report and draft recommendations and agree 
that the Chair of this Committee present the attached report to Cabinet as 
representing the Committee’s findings and recommendations of the Review.

Contact :        Steph Downey – Service Director (3919) or 
                       Michele Keenan – Improvement Manager (3631)

Page 20



Any relevant appendices

Appendix 1 - The ACT Team – a case study which demonstrates embedding an 
enablement approach

1. The ACT team is a new team which has been developed to review service 
users who have complex needs, primarily people with a Learning Disability with 
the aim of working with these people to promote independence which in turn 
will result in less dependency on long-term statutory services.  The case study 
below demonstrates that by embedding enablement into the approach through 
various methods e.g. assistive technology, travel training etc. the long-term 
benefits to supporting people to becoming independent.

2. Equipment may be provided as part of the enablement service to promote 
independence. People with learning disabilities (LD) have poorer health than 
the general population, much of which is avoidable. These health inequalities 
often start early in life and result, to an extent, from barriers they face in 
accessing timely, appropriate and effective health care. The impact of these 
health inequalities is serious. As well as having a poorer quality of life, people 
with learning disabilities die at a younger age than their non-disabled peers

3. Additionally, recent years have seen significant challenges around social care 
budgets, and this, coupled with rising demand for services, means that all 
councils have had to examine different ways of delivering care and support to 
people with learning disabilities. At an individual level, it can be a challenge to 
find the right balance between ensuring safety and enabling supported 
independence.

4. Services commissioning social care at Gateshead Council are in the process of 
carrying out changes in the way customers access its services and the way the 
Council responds. One of the drivers for change is increasing funding 
pressures across the public sector which has contributed to significant 
reorganisation and significant budget reductions across all service areas. While 
services have already made significant budget cuts as part of its financial plan 
at a time when there continues to be increasing pressure on services. Failure to 
prepare for and change ways of working to deal with these challenges 
significantly increases the risk of services not being sustainable.

5. Care Wellbeing & Learning (CWL) is keen to focus on ensuring the optimum 
outcome is achieved for service users. The approach aims to assist with the 
opportunities for LD service users to reach their personal potential, within the 
financial envelope the council is operating within. 

Making Gateshead a Place Where Everyone Thrives

6. Gateshead Council’s aim is to make Gateshead a place where everyone 
thrives. This approach aims to enable the achievement of the best possible 
outcomes for the people of Gateshead and to make sure that, as a council, it 
listens to and understands what matters most to local people, whilst always 
standing up for the most vulnerable and those in need.

Page 21



7. To achieve this, it acknowledges a radical rethink is required about the way it 
works as a council, the way we spend the money, the way we work with partner 
organisations, businesses and how we work with our local people and 
communities. 

To work towards this goal five pledges have been developed agreed by Council:

 Put people and families at the heart of everything we do.
 Tackle inequality so people have a fair chance.
 Support our communities to support themselves and each other.
 Invest in our economy to provide sustainable opportunities for employment, 

innovation and growth across the borough. 
 Work together and fight for a better future for Gateshead.

8. Implementation
In 2017 discussions took place within Care Wellbeing and Learning (CWL) 
directorate related to addressing continuing budget pressures / reductions 
within Adult Social Care - Learning Disabilities team. A decision was made to 
develop a new more in-depth, dynamic model for adults with a learning 
disability that could:

 implement a new approach through a more multi-disciplinary team with 
specialists in assessment, reablement, occupational therapy and travel training 
to work together and dynamically respond to those fluctuating needs by offering 
the right amount of support at each point in time to ensure maximum safe 
independence; improve the outcomes delivered for service users following the 
assessed support commissioned by Gateshead Council.

 commission services provided to adults with learning disabilities that reflect the 
corporate Thrive agenda to maximise everyone’s potential; capture learning to 
improve systems and process; and ensure that the financial envelope available 

Page 22



to the directorate/service is managed effectively.

9. By adopting a more in-depth and dynamic approach to reviewing support 
packages, their focus was to explore how the current LD commissioning of 
social care can be adapted to ensure the most appropriate and reasonable 
packages of support are in place, which enables service recipients to enhance 
their independence, reasonable choice and control for service users, improve 
value for money and develop a more diverse and responsive market. It aimed 
to challenge the notion that more care is better care by analysing what level of 
care is needed, reasonable and appropriate, whilst improving value for money 
from current and new providers and continuing to provide what a user needs. 
Specifically, to identify how outcomes for people with LD can be improved, 
while simultaneously delivering enhanced financial efficiencies within existing 
and future budget envelopes. The achieving change together team was set up 
to give impetus to these new approaches.

10. Aims and scope - The scope of the ACT team is defined and understood 
regarding the areas of contact-point expenditure across the Council and CCG 
for the delivery of health and social care. There are a range of changes that the 
project considered including:

 Agreeing a team vision and priorities to ensure staff understand how this fits in 
with the new framework. 

 Revisiting the depth of assessment and review - staff to assess individual 
needs.

 Focus on ISLs developing clear pathways from residential into and out of ISL -
reablement officers to go into ISL’s and observe to build up an in-depth 
knowledge of clients to improve assessment.

 Work with providers on maximising the development of service user’s 
independence, particularly to the extent that support needs may be reduced by 
opportunities for example in paid employment, volunteering and independence. 

 Re-commissioning (including decommissioning where appropriate) of specialist 
learning disabilities health resources.

11. Outcomes

 Monetary savings

Net Reductions in Package Cost

Sep-18 Oct-18

Row Labels
Total 

Reviewed

No. of 
No 

Change

No. of 
Reductions

Value of 
Reductions

No. of 
Increases

Value of 
Increases

Total Net 
Movement

Total of 
Reductions 
due to CHC

Sum of 
Movement 
not related 

to CHC
ACT 8% 19% ACT 16 4 10 -£343,403 2 £892 -£342,511 -£263,611 -£78,900
CHC 68% 62% LOC 2 0 0 0 £0 0 £0 £0 0 0
PLD 24% 20% PLD 3 0 3 -£83,575 0 £0 -£83,575 0 -£83,575

Grand Total 19 4 13 -£426,978 2 £892 -£426,086 -£263,611 -£162,475

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            *At 31st October 2018

Page 23



12. Improved Outcomes - Case Study 1
AD lives in a 24-hour residential care setting and has lived there since 2013. 
AD has a learning disability and epilepsy which presents with limited verbal 
responses, and he is prone to having partial and complex seizures. 8 weeks 
ago, AD suffered a suspected stroke which has severely impacted upon his 
mobility and resulted in right sided weakness. 

It was identified that the staff were having difficulty in managing AD with his 
overnight needs. When staff were carrying out agreed checks, this could wake 
AD, resulting in him believing it was time to get up.  He was therefore not 
getting enough sleep and tiredness may have put him at increased risk of 
seizure or falls.

It was agreed that the ‘Just checking’ system would be used to establish AD’s 
movements during the night. Staff had reported that AD was becoming 
confused and agitated particularly during the night which was why it was 
recommended that this system be used. It was also recommended that an 
epilepsy sensor could be put in place to monitor his seizures. This equipment 
was installed by Care call in AD’s room covertly as he does not cope well with 
changes to his room and has a history of being destructive with any new 
equipment. 

‘Just checking’ was in place for 6 weeks and identified that there was 
movement during the night. It was difficult to ascertain if the movement was 
staff having to attend when the epilepsy sensor was reacting to movement or if 
it was AD’s movements. It was also established that AD was shuffling himself to 
the end of the bed which was causing the sensor to go off. It was established 
that when staff were attending to the sensor alarm AD would again have 
difficulty going back to sleep and this continued to have an impact on his sleep 
pattern.  

Page 24



Further discussion took place with the Provider and Care Call and the use of 
surveillance equipment was considered as although AD would still be under 
constant supervision, it was felt that this would be the least restrictive option for 
AD which would allow staff to monitor AD’s movements without disturbing him. 
There was a best interest decision carried out under the current DOLS 
authorisation that this was the least restrictive option.

It has also been identified that AD had experienced a few falls since his stroke 
and fall sensors have been recommended and put in place, so staff will be 
alerted to his standing position when out of bed. Staff report that the 
surveillance equipment is working really well and has allowed the provider to 
continue to support AD, rather than having to move him to an alternative 
placement which would have had a detrimental impact on his behaviours and 
wellbeing or to an increase in support being requested by service provider.

Case Study 2
TC currently lives in a 24-hour residential care setting. When TC moved to this 
setting in 2013 it was identified as a temporary move following the passing of 
his mother who was his main career. At the time it was identified that TC had 
completed a ‘My Homes’ form. Over the years, TC has had additional ‘My 
Homes’ forms completed, which identified that TC wanted to have level access 
property, quiet and with a friends or friends. 

During a review undertaken by the ACT team, TC had stated that he was not 
happy living at his current property. A meeting took place which was attended 
by TC, his family and the current provider.  The Assessing Officer had 
previously spoken to TC family and advised that we were looking to support TC 
to move into a property of his choice.  Family initially ok with this but at the 
meeting, they expressed concerns they had.  They were concerned that TC 
would be placed in a property alone where he received ‘4 visits a day’ and be 
left alone for the rest of the time.  

At the meeting, it was explained that it had been established that as TC has 
submitted several ‘My Homes’ forms, we needed to ensure that we are listening 
to him and actively supporting him to look for the right placement, although 
acknowledging that TC may well request to move again as those who know him 
well felt that this is something he has always done.  It was also reiterated that 
no decision had been made about future accommodation type as no evidence 
as to what TC could do and what he needed support with.

It was identified that more work needed to be done to support TC to have the 
potential to move on from his current placement. TC has been engaging well 
with the enablement team who have been carrying out kitchen skills. This has 
enabled the team to establish how TC problem solves, understands instructions 
and can execute a task with minimal instruction or prompting.  

TC has now been offered a placement in the Lobley Hill area, in a bungalow, 
sharing with a friend who he knows from his work placement, which is exactly 

Page 25



what he had requested on his ‘My Homes’ form. TC has identified that he would 
now like to live there. Meeting held with family who have requested to go and 
see the property and are happy that the service is staffed 24/7.  Although 
cannot be confirmed until TC moves into new property, a significant saving is 
expected from this.

Appendix 2:
Assistive Technology

There are currently 8,300 residents of Gateshead who are connected via a 
range of Assistive Technology to Gateshead Council’s Care Call Service.

GROWTH

Basic System Referrals

The graph below shows the increasing referrals for basic Assistive Technology 
over the last 6 years. 60% increase.

Advanced System Installations

Details the type of equipment that is being installed, this shows steady 
increases since 2012 to 2017 in installations, falls, medication, purposeful 
wandering and assessment tools like just checking. 

Page 26



FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

 Assistive technology within residential care
 ACT (Achieving Change Together) review of packages of care to improve the level of 

assistive technology to support clients.
 Virtual Assistants Pilot
 Commissioning Scoping Paper
 Council Strategy
 Capital Investment within Council Housing Stock
 Funding Opportunities

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



CARE, HEALTH AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

23 April 2019

TITLE OF REPORT: Work to address the harms caused by tobacco –
Update on recommendations

REPORT OF:           Alice Wiseman, Director of Public Health
______________________________________________________________

Summary

Tobacco use in Gateshead impacts negatively upon physical and mental wellbeing, 
upon the local health and social care economy, and perpetuates poverty and 
inequalities within and between generations.

Persistent, pervasive, comprehensive, co-ordinated and integrated action on tobacco 
control is essential to make smoking history in Gateshead.

Update April 2019 

Recommendation 1: Tobacco remains the greatest contributor to health inequalities 
and action to denormalise smoking and reduce prevalence lifts families out of poverty. 
The human, social and financial cost of tobacco to Gateshead means that it is vital to 
retain the Council’s strong commitment to comprehensive tobacco control, and in fact, 
increase our efforts.

Update: The Gateshead Smokefree Alliance completed a peer-led CLeaR 
assessment on 10 December 2018. This established a number of insights, strengths 
and opportunities for development. The Alliance has met to discuss the report and is 
acting on the opportunities for development. This will continue throughout 2019.   

Recommendation 2: Refresh and reaffirm the Council’s commitment to the 2025 
vision of 5% adult smoking prevalence.

Update: The Council, as a member of the Gateshead Health and Wellbeing Board, 
reiterated its support to the vision of 5% smoking prevalence by 2025 at the meeting 
of Cabinet on 17 July 2018. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



Recommendation 3: Invest to save principles would suggest the continuation of 
appropriate resourcing for this priority area.

Update: The Public Health Team provides funding for several tobacco control 
workstreams, including the stop smoking service and Fresh (the Regional Office for 
Tobacco Control). In 2019/20, this amount is £426 088. Resource is also directed to 
other programmes that have a focus on smokefree/tobacco control, including the 
Better Health at Work Programme and the Making Every Contact Count programme. 
The Public Health Team also maintains a Programme Lead post with a principal focus 
on tobacco control and support for the Gateshead Smokefree Alliance, and an 
Intervention Lead who supports the delivery of the stop smoking service.

Recommendation 4: The Smoke-free Gateshead Alliance should be supported to 
develop a strategic Tobacco Plan for Gateshead and to drive this forward. This will 
clearly set out actions across the public and voluntary and community sectors to 
address the harm caused by tobacco.

Action: The Gateshead Smokefree Alliance has a Ten Year Plan based on the eight 
key strands of tobacco control (see Appendix 1). This is being reviewed in light of the 
peer assessment with a focus on specific contributions identified by all Alliance 
partners.

Recommendation 5: Continued support and commitment for the regional Fresh 
Tobacco Control Office is important to continue development of hard hitting mass 
media campaigns which have a strong evidence base in triggering quit attempts, 
encouraging quitters to stay quit, and reducing uptake among children.

Action: Gateshead Council, along with the other six Tyne and Wear local authorities, 
will continue to fund Fresh throughout 2019/20. 

Recommendation 6: Action to be taken to address inequalities through community 
asset-based approaches to develop co-produced solutions which aim to reduce 
prevalence of smoking in our more deprived areas and with those groups considered 
to be vulnerable.

Action: A project to encourage communication and mutual learning between the 
Public Health team, stop smoking services, community members and others is being 
delivered in partnership with Edberts House. Based in the east of Gateshead, the 
project will develop relationships and insights that will be used to improve outcomes 
related to reducing harms due to tobacco use. 

Recommendation 7: Aim to embed action on smoking in all other relevant Council 
and public sector plans through a Health in All Policies Approach to ensure recognition 
of the importance of public health across the public sector.

Action: As part of the Thrive agenda, Public Health will be working to develop a 
systematic programme to embed a Health In All Policies approach from 2019.

Page 30



Recommendation 8: Aim to embed NICE guidance (PH23) ‘Smoking Prevention in 
Schools’ across Gateshead schools.

Action: Discussions are ongoing between Public Health and Learning and Schools to 
establish how this can be supported. Information is now being shared with schools via 
a “Health resources” section at http://www.servicesforschoolsnortheast.org.uk.

The 0-19 public health service (Health Visitors and School Nursing) has identified 
resources to support health improvement sessions in schools focussing on tobacco. 
Also, a consultant in respiratory medicine from Gateshead NHS Foundation Trust has 
given her time to run a session in a local school and is willing to commit further.  

Recommendation 9: Ensure training is available to provide people living and working 
in Gateshead with skills and confidence to provide brief advice and intervention on 
smoking through the development of the Making Every Contact Count initiative.

Action: Through the Making Every Contact Count (MECC) approach in Gateshead, 
Very Brief Advice on Smoking training has been delivered to staff and volunteers from 
the Voluntary and Community Sector organisations currently signed up to MECC. The 
training has also been delivered to over 100 housing staff from TGHC and staff from 
Gateshead Libraries and staff from the QE Hospital. This delivery of VBA training is 
ongoing as the roll out of Making Every Contact Count continues. The training 
focusses on the skills, knowledge and confidence to deliver brief interventions on 
stopping smoking and accessing the Stop Smoking Service, e-cigarettes and second-
hand smoke.

Recommendation 10: Maintain compliance with current smoke-free legislation and 
continue support for the new law which bans smoking in cars that are carrying children.

Action: There remains a minimal need for enforcement in relation to shared work 
vehicles and taxi/private hire vehicles.  Premises based compliance remains extremely 
high, and there have been no complaints from the public for several years in relation 
to people smoking inside workplaces.  There are occasional issues with people 
smoking outside in structures which are not easily identifiable as ‘substantially 
enclosed’. This is not high priority for enforcement work, and advice is normally 
sufficient to clarify matters.

Recommendation 11: Renewed efforts to be made to increase public support for 
Smoke Free environments such as smoke-free communities and specified outdoor 
zones.

Action: The Committee agreed at its meeting of 10 December 2018 to discontinue 
this recommendation, following PHE’s publication that the evidence for the 
effectiveness of such activity is poor. 

Recommendation 12: Support the NHS to develop nicotine dependence pathways 
and to become completely smoke-free in line with NICE guidance (PH48).

Page 31

http://www.servicesforschoolsnortheast.org.uk/


Action: The Trust has developed an action plan that includes improved activity to 
identify and treat nicotine dependence amongst patients. Patients will now be asked 
upon admission if they smoke and, if they do, will be offered NRT for the duration of 
their stay. Upon discharge, they are asked if they would like help to stop smoking, and 
those who do are offered text support from the Trust and/or an electronic referral to 
the Public Health team. Those referred are taken through the options available to help 
them to stop smoking. Further work is planned with respect to controlling smoking on 
the premises and an agreed policy on the use of electronic cigarettes. 

Recommendation 13: Further develop stop smoking services to provide flexible 
options in a range of settings accessed by those at greatest risk.

Action: A review of the Stop Smoking Service was completed in September 2018 that 
identified eighteen recommendations for improvement (see Appendix 2). Those that 
can be accommodated within the resource available are being implemented now. The 
service has seen an improvement in four week quit rates and has expanded provision 
across the Borough. 

Recommendation 14: Complete a Health Equity Audit (HEA) to inform development 
and delivery of Stop Smoking Services in areas of greatest need.

Action: The Health Equity Audit was completed in October 2018 (Appendix 3). The 
findings have in part been taken forward by the recommissioning of the stop smoking 
service to be completed by April 2018. This has included, for example, ensuring good 
provision in areas of low service uptake, such as Saltwell ward, by encouraging local 
general practices to re-establish a stop smoking service. In other wards with low levels 
of uptake, such as Lamesley, Public Health has worked with Comms to design 
bespoke leaflets for different parts of the ward based on the principles of social 
marketing to raise awareness of the availability of local services. Over 9000 
households will be targeted through this leaflet drop.

Recommendation 15: Undertake further work as part of Smokefree NHS work to 
further reduce the number of women who smoke during and after pregnancy.

Action: The Local Maternity System (commissioners and providers working together 
to ensure that women, babies and families can access the services they need and 
choose) has provided the Queen Elizabeth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust with a 
bespoke action plan based on an audit of current activity on smoking in pregnancy. 
The Smoking in Pregnancy task and finish group has met monthly since November 
2018 and has delivered a number of actions. These include training in very brief advice 
for council Early Help services and the 0-19 children’s public health service, equipping 
more staff with carbon monoxide monitors to check maternal smoking status, and 
working with maternity services to develop the smoking in pregnancy pathway. This 
will support the development of practice as recommended by NHS England’s recently 
revised “Saving Babies’ Lives Care Bundle”. Further, the Trust is developing a 

Page 32



business case for a number of activities the support the implementation of Smokefree 
NHS.   

Recommendation 16: Reduce harm through continued support for evidence-based 
harm reduction.

Action: The Gateshead Stop Smoking Service does support those who wish to stop 
smoking but who do not wish to give up nicotine. Smokers may therefore be weaned 
off tobacco and maintain their nicotine addiction through vaping or the purchase of 
nicotine replacement therapy. The Council continues to fund the availability of nicotine 
replacement therapy on prescription in Gateshead, and the stop smoking service 
specification is much clearer on what this mean. The Council’s website has been 
significantly revised to provide better help and support for those wishing to cut down 
or stop smoking (www.gateshead.gov.uk/SmokefreeGateshead).

Recommendation 17: Communication and media capacity for tobacco control is vital 
and the capacity to be proactive in terms of public relations activity and media should 
be developed so as to engage residents of Gateshead in the tobacco control agenda.

Action: A communications plan has been agreed to uplift national smokefree 
campaigns supported by Public Health England and regional campaigns produced 
by Fresh North East, the regional office for tobacco control. The plan includes for full 
use of all print and social media, including the One You Gateshead pages at 
https://www.facebook.com/OneYouGateshead/ and 
https://twitter.com/OneYouGateshead

Recommendation 18: Advocate for a national tobacco sale and distribution licensing 
scheme, the tobacco industry bearing the full cost of its implementation and 
enforcement, with the aim of eliminating the illicit and illegal trade in tobacco, and to 
end selling of tobacco products to minors.

Action: We continue to support this, but the locus of this advocacy is now with ASH, 
who continue to pursue the scheme we need with Government. Gateshead worked 
with ASH to lead on the introduction of licensing during a consultation in 2016, but the 
Government didn’t see fit to take this forward at that time.  

Recommendation 19: Deliver an intelligence led and targeted enforcement 
programme to reduce availability and supply of tobacco products to children.

Action: A consistent level of activity throughout this year including test purchasing 
and taking action against sellers of illicit tobacco has been secured through funding 
Trading Standards activity from Public Health reserves. Public Health reserve funding 
is no longer available from April 2019, which is likely to result in a reduction in these 
activities.   

Recommendation 20: Ensure compliance with legislation to reduce tobacco 
promotion (e.g. Plain packaging) and advocate for further restrictions.

Page 33

http://www.gateshead.gov.uk/SmokefreeGateshead
https://www.facebook.com/OneYouGateshead/
https://twitter.com/OneYouGateshead


Action:  The Trading Standards team participated in a national project, delivered by 
the Chartered Trading Standards Institute (CTSI) whereby officers visited tobacco 
retailers to ensure compliance. Results were published on the CTSI website.  

Recommendation 21: Advocate for a new annual levy on tobacco companies to 
ensure they pay more for the harm they cause. Funding from a levy should be used to 
make smoking history for more families including support and encouragement to help 
people quit.

Action: Gateshead Council endorsed the joint ASH/UKCTAS (UK Centre for Tobacco 
and Alcohol Studies) representation to Treasury on tobacco control issues in advance 
of the budget. The submission included a recommendation that a fixed amount of 
funding should be raised from the tobacco manufacturers to support activity to reduce 
smoking prevalence, with the proportion paid by each tobacco manufacturer allocated 
on sales volume.    

Recommendation

Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to note and comment on the 
twelve monthly review update.

Contact: Alice Wiseman Ext: 2777

Page 34



Appendix 1 – Tobacco Control Action Plan

P
age 35



Appendix 2 – Gateshead Stop Smoking Service: an NCSCT review

Recommendations
Improving success

1. The CLeaR self-assessment will be an opportunity to encourage stakeholders to see the 
service as part of broader tobacco control; this should be emphasised and clarified at 
Alliance meetings. Throughout, the question to explore should be whether activity is 
good value for money; against a background of uncertain funding, what are the 
essential things that must be done? How can a better, responsive service be developed?

2. Keep communication with the CCG active in order to improve the service, making it a 
shared goal with more leadership from them, within a framework of improved services. 
Examples include regularly sharing tobacco updates such as the new RCGP training on 
smoking cessation http://elearning.rcgp.org.uk/smoking , the NCSCT Very Brief Advice 
training, ensuring that there is Public Health representation on any CCG-led topic group 
where smoking is a risk factor (pregnancy, respiratory, cardiovascular and cancer), 
checking that all GP practices know how to refer/signpost, informing them of stop 
smoking service quarterly and annual results and the changes to SATOD and Tobacco 
Control Proflie data.

3. A Health Equity Audit should be considered, undertaken by Public Health analysts, to 
identify gaps in provision through use/needs ratios; this should be shared with the 
smokefree alliance and with commissioners in the CCG.

4. Ambition: the current success rate of under 50% can be substantially improved. Many 
practitioners may have got used to a high failure rate and accept it as a given, but a 
renewed vigour that comes with offering ECs as part of the service could see this 
success rate climb. 

5. Home visits (apart from pregnant women): a balance has to be struck between not 
facilitating any home visits (which disadvantages those who genuinely cannot come to 
appointments) and spending valuable time home-visiting people who actually could 
leave home with support from a carer. Phone support can be useful here, but in fact 
experience shows that there are few people so ill that they cannot ever leave the 
house. 

6. Black and minority ethnic smokers: an exercise to identify all BME smokers at primary 
care level and send them targeted information about the risks of smoking along with 
the availability of support at their local pharmacy or GP practice would be a good start. 
Community talks (including about making the home smoke-free, which will also help 
pregnant women), training scholars at masjids, information to take home for children at 
madrassas could also be explored.    

7. Time spent on the 12-week follow-up: consider refocusing on getting better results at 4 
weeks. We know the decay rate from 4 weeks to 12 weeks, so it may be worthwhile 
dropping the 12-week requirement which can be time-consuming with little benefit, 
allowing practitioners to focus more time on getting successful 4 week quits.

Page 36

http://elearning.rcgp.org.uk/smoking


Improving contact  

8. Single point of contact: there is discussion currently about involving the Gateshead 
Council Digital team and the ICT team to support a customer services module to 
improve electronic referrals. This could be a costly investment with unknown benefits, 
whereas well-trained and enthusiastic first-line practitioners at the end of the phone to 
talk to referrers, smokers, practitioners with queries, midwives etc has proven benefits. 
This personal contact will be important once service branding is established, especially 
if Gateshead is going to start offering starter EC kits. Since the site visit, progress has 
been made in this area.

9. Pre-operative smoking cessation (Stop B4 the Op): a popular theme amongst clinicians, 
this will work best if there is a simple referral pathway in place and obstacle-free access 
to services. Once clinicians know the service phone number and gain confidence that 
their patients will be triaged appropriately, they will be more keen to refer. Again, 
progess has already been made in this area, since the report was drafted.

10. Partnerships: involve and share new branding widely, not just within community 
pharmacy, general practice and secondary care. It is suggested that the following should 
be informed and involved (the list is not exhaustive): Local Dental Committee, Local 
Pharmaceutical Committee, mental health teams, carers’ groups, disability support 
groups, Fire and Rescue Service (getting vulnerable smokers identified at home fire 
safety checks to switch from cigarettes to EC), credit unions, AGE UK and other 
charities.

11. Very Brief Advice on smoking (VBA) training: audit who has been trained and what 
referalls are coming from which organisations and individuals.

Improving skills   

12. Specialists: this would ideally begin with two specialist practitioners to run clinics 
focussing on pregnant women, those with poor mental health and patients referred 
from the acute trust, particularly those with cardiac and respiratory conditions. They 
could also act as a clinical resource (practitioner mentors) for stop smoking 
practitioners working in community pharmacies and general practice. Shadowing 
experienced practitioners, and being observed by them, can be a valuable way of 
improving the skills of new providers who have completed their training but need to see 
sessions conducted to be more effective.

Improving services for pregnant women

13. Smoking in pregnancy: there are a number of issues to be considered, including the role 
of the CCG in requiring action on smoking in their maternity contract, whether there is a 
multi-agency partnership group with an action plan in place and consideration of what 
Newcastle does for pregnant smokers, given that the two local authorities share two 
NHS maternity providers. Smoking in pregnancy should be part of broader maternity 
plans, requiring a referral pathway and  capacity developed to do home visits where 
necessary to support women to have a smoke-free pregnancy. 

Page 37



Communications and marketing

14. Communications: a consistent call-to-action should be developed and used in marketing 
materials, adapted for use in frontline services, used creatively on social media 
platforms, and deployed by all local services used by people who smoke. 

15. Identity: brand awareness is key to success. A recognisable logo, memorable brand 
name, a single easy to remember phone number and key message will help smokers, 
their friends and family (plus health and social care professionals who have daily 
contact with smokers) remember who to contact for help.

Medications

16. Use of NRT: consider how to trim this spend without detriment to maintaining 
successful quitting, possibly by clarifying and reinforcing abstinent-dependent 
medication supply. 

17. Use of varenicline: to benefit from superior quit rates among varenicline users, check 
that pharmacy-based practitioners are using this and not merely relying on NRT by 
undertaking a records audit. Training or information may be needed if some GPs are 
unwilling to write varenicline prescriptions for people being seen by pharmacy 
practitioners. Consider also dispelling doubts about varenicline use by people with poor 
mental health by sharing the EAGLES study, either electronically or at a learning session. 
http://respiratory-care-sleep-medicine.advanceweb.com/Features/Articles/EAGLES-
Study-Results-Released.aspx

E-cigarettes

18.  E-cigarettes: Gateshead has embraced EC for stopping smoking, but there is a lot to 
do in terms of training practitioners to be confident. The NCSCT has a wide range of 
materials; at the very least all practitioners should take the online module 
(http://elearning.ncsct.co.uk/e_cigarettes-launch) and read the relevant briefing 
(http://www.ncsct.co.uk/publication_electronic_cigarette_briefing.php). 
Importantly, practitioners should be instructed specifically how to record EC use on 
their systems, be informed on how to answer questions and encouraged to ask if not 
sure. This is a fast-moving field and annual updates are unlikely to be enough to keep 
practitioners adequately informed, so a regular feed of information, through group 
emails and on the news page of the recording system will help fill the knowledge gap. 
The prize is a much greater number of four-week quits.

Page 38

http://respiratory-care-sleep-medicine.advanceweb.com/Features/Articles/EAGLES-Study-Results-Released.aspx
http://respiratory-care-sleep-medicine.advanceweb.com/Features/Articles/EAGLES-Study-Results-Released.aspx
http://elearning.ncsct.co.uk/e_cigarettes-launch
http://www.ncsct.co.uk/publication_electronic_cigarette_briefing.php


Appendix 3 – Stop Smoking Service Health Equity Audit 2018

Recommendations

Further work is needed to engage more men on the Stop Smoking Service programme initially. 
However, once engaged, quit rates are equitable.

Targeted work with younger people is needed to both engage them with the programme initially and 
to give them support to successfully quit.

All BME groups need further encouragement to engage with the programme initially. Once engaged, 
the Black, Asian and Mixed groups in particular require more support to successfully quit.

As the largest component of the workforce, those in routine and manual jobs need further 
encouragement to engage with stop smoking services. Take-up is significantly lower than for those 
who have never worked or are long term unemployed. However, once engaged with the service and 
a quit date is set, those in routine and manual jobs have an equitable quit rate compared to other 
socio-economic groups. Further work is needed to increase the quit rate of those who have set a quit 
date and have never worked or are long term unemployed.

The proportion of pregnant women setting a quit date and then successfully quitting is around 14 
percentage points lower than the general population. Further targeted work is required.

Targeted campaigns could be run in the following wards to address low service takeup: Wardley and 
Leam Lane; Chowdene; Windy Nook and Whitehills; Lamesley; Saltwell.

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



1

     

TITLE OF REPORT: Gateshead Health & Wellbeing Board – Progress 
Update

REPORT OF: Caroline O’Neill, Strategic Director, Care, Wellbeing & 
Learning
______________________________________________________________

Summary
To update and seek the views of the Care, Health & Wellbeing OSC on the 
work of the Gateshead Health & Wellbeing Board for the six-month period 
October 2018 to March 2019.
____________________________________________________________

Background

1. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 provided for the establishment of 
Health & Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) as committees of local authorities to 
bring together leaders from the health and care system to work together to 
improve the health and wellbeing of their local population. 

2. As part of the 2018/19 work programme for the Care, Health & Wellbeing 
OSC, it was agreed to provide two six monthly updates on the work of the 
HWB.

3. A report has already been provided on the work of the HWB for the period 
1st April to 30th September 2018. 

Gateshead Health & Wellbeing Board – Progress Update October 2018 to 
March 2019

4. The following update highlights key issues considered by the HWB and 
progress made for the period 1st October 2018 to 31st March 2019.

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment: Update / Refresh

5. The Board considered a refreshed Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA) and agreed to retain the existing strategic priorities with the 
addition of air quality. This reflects a clearer understanding of the effect 
that poor air quality has on human health:

 High concentrations of nitrogen dioxide are known to cause health 
effects including lung problems, sensitivity to allergens and can 
trigger asthma. 

CARE, HEALTH & WELLBEING 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE
 23rd April 2019

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



2

 There are strong relationships between fine particulate 
concentrations and cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, such 
as strokes and heart disease. 

 There is a growing body of evidence linking air pollution with brain 
health.

6. The Board also considered a progress update on action areas from the 
2017 JSNA update. Next steps identified included:

 Continue to engage 'expert authors' in developing and reviewing the 
content of the JSNA;

 To add more examples of the ‘lived experience’ of local people in 
the form of case studies to bring additional richness to the JSNA;

 Continue to integrate intelligence on Gateshead's assets into the 
JSNA.

Thriving in Gateshead – rethinking Health & Wellbeing Conference

7. A conference took place on 23rd January which included Sir Michael 
Marmot and other keynote speakers to help us rethink health and 
wellbeing and to shape a new Health & Wellbeing Strategy to tackle 
inequality and give Gateshead people a real chance to thrive.

8. The conference heard that an ageing population, economic downturn, 
austerity and the impact of welfare reform has placed a huge burden on 
our citizens and creates challenges for Gateshead. This is having a huge 
impact on our communities, families and individuals.  

9. Facilitated workshops took place on:

- The wider determinants of health
- Our health behaviours and lifestyles
- The places and communities we live in, and with
- An integrated health care system

10.The outputs from the conference and workshops are being used to inform 
our future approach to health and wellbeing.

Integrating Health and Care in Gateshead

11.The Board received updates from system leaders on work to progress 
health and care integration for the benefit of local people, including:

 A Gateshead ‘Place’ based approach to health and care that 
supports the ‘Thrive’ agenda.

 Integrated, whole system budget planning.
 Reporting on performance etc. through a whole system ‘lens’.
 Priority areas of focus for 2019/20 and key transformation 

programmes.

Page 42



3

 Development of a Memorandum of Understanding for the 
Gateshead Health and Care System and associated governance 
arrangements.

 Looking at ways to take forward preventative approaches across 
the local health and care system.

 Enablers to integration such as IT, workforce etc.
 Development of a Gateshead Plan to capture the key components 

of our approach.
 Whole system responses to national consultations e.g. LGA Green 

Paper on Adult Social Care.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018

12.The Gateshead Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018 ‘Obesity; 
Made in England’ was presented to the Board which focused on the issue 
that society has in maintaining a healthy weight. 

13.The report described the need to take a radically different approach. It was 
reported that one to one interventions are important to help individuals 
tackle their own weight; however, this is not enough to tackle the issue and 
we have to take action at a population level. In Gateshead 69% of adults 
are overweight and obese. We therefore need to consider the complexity 
of the issue and plans need to refocus on the medium and longer term 
(beyond 5 years).

14. It was reported that the evidence shows a collaborative whole systems 
approach is likely to be more effective in promoting healthy weight in 
children, young people and families rather than single interventions on 
their own. Local partnerships including the ‘Health and Care System’ the 
voluntary sector, local communities and local businesses should work in 
partnership to tackle obesity in Gateshead. This report identified areas in 
which change could be affected and recommended actions that can 
contribute to the commitment to end obesity in Gateshead.

15.The Board endorsed the six key recommendations of the report:

 A Whole System Approach is needed. Everyone has a role to play.
 A commitment to a healthy weight future for Gateshead with overt 

recognition that this will take time and tenacity.
 Obesity is a problem of inequality, that needs to be tackled so 

everyone in Gateshead has the opportunity to thrive.
 Community led interventions are needed to tackle obesity as part of a 

placed-based approach.
 A balance between population-level measures and more targeted 

interventions and approaches across the life course are required.
 Call to Action - The Council and its partners should consider measures 

that could be implemented at an organisational level to minimise the 
obesogenic environment for its workforce.

Page 43



4

Strategic & Operational Plans

16.The Board considered the following strategic and operational plans during 
the period October 2018 to March 2019:

Delivery of Children and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Service and Local Transformation Plan Refresh

17.The Board received an update on the delivery of children and young 
people’s mental health services in Gateshead and the progress made in 
mobilising two new service specifications - ‘Getting Help’ and ‘Getting 
More Help’.

18.The case for change was summarised and it was noted that emphasis has 
been placed on the crucial importance of early intervention in addressing 
emerging emotional and mental health issues for children and young 
people.

19.The Board were provided with a summary of the new service which 
included establishing a single point of access with phased access by 
referrers, children young people and their families. It was noted that this 
will result in ‘no bouncing’ between services and help to ensure the child or 
young person has timely access to the correct service.

20.The Board asked what plans are in place to cope with increased demand 
for services. In response, it was highlighted that plans are in motion to 
build capacity amongst the third sector in addition to the new trailblazer in 
schools and use of KOOTH (an online counselling and emotional well-
being platform for children and young people).

Placement Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy for Children in Care 
in Gateshead 2018-2021

21.The Board considered the Placement Sufficiency and Commissioning 
Strategy for Children in Care in Gateshead for the period 2018-2021. The 
strategy covers the accommodation and placement needs for Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers supported by the Council. 

22. It was reported that 7 key priorities are at the heart of this strategy:

 Our Children and Young People are respected and involved.
 Our placements are safe and meet the needs of our Children and 

Young People.
 Positive relationships and identity.
 Our Children and Young People will be supported to improve their 

physical and emotional health and wellbeing. 
 Our Children and Young People are encouraged to reach their 

educational, employment and training potential.
 Our Young People moving into adulthood will be supported to achieve 

their full potential in life.

Page 44



5

 Improve our role as the Corporate Parent. 

23.Details were provided of how the Council will ensure that there is sufficient 
accommodation of all types of children in their care. 

24. It was noted that commissioning intentions going forward are focused on:

 An integrated commissioning approach for children and families across 
social care and health.

 Shifting resources downstream towards prevention and early help to 
reduce the demand on specialist services.

 Tackling the root causes of disadvantage and developing more 
responsive and personalised services.

 Increasing focus on outcomes, rather than inputs and outputs.

Impact of the Roll out of Universal Credit

25.  The Board received a report and presentation from Dr Mandy Cheetham 
on the Impact of the Roll Out of Universal Credit. It was noted that 
qualitative research on the impact of the UC roll out was commissioned by 
Gateshead Council’s Public Health Team. Interviews were held between 
April and October 2018 with 33 claimants (including people with long term 
health conditions, disabilities and complex lives) and 37 staff supporting 
them.

26.An overview of issues faced by new claimants was provided. It was noted 
that there were a range of issues including the online claims process, the 5 
week assessment period, incorrect awards and the impact on a claimant’s 
physical and mental health.

27. It was found that the online application process was discriminatory, 
particularly to those who lack the skills and knowledge to use ICT systems 
including those with mental health problems and learning disabilities. The 
Board received information and case studies in relation to the pitfalls 
experienced by claimants of UC which included delays in payments, 
negotiating the claimant commitment, the rise in poverty and the impact 
and consequences of declining mental and physical health.

28.A variety of media coverage reporting on the impact of Universal Credit 
was displayed. Additionally, a quote was provided from the UN Special 
Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights was shown stating 
“British compassion for those who are suffering has been replaced by a 
punitive, mean spirited and often callous approach.”

29.The Chair thanked Dr Cheetham for the report noting its significance in 
understanding the real impacts of UC on individuals and society. 

30. It was agreed that the Board would write to the Secretary of State for Work 
& Pensions to highlight the concerns identified amongst UC claimants in 

Page 45



6

Gateshead. The letter was also copied to the shadow Secretary of State/ 
spokespersons for Work & Pensions.

OFSTED Inspection of LA Children's Services: Self Evaluation & Annual 
Conversation Update

31.The Board considered an update on the outcome of the annual 
conversation held with Ofsted on the 5th December, held under the 
Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) framework.

32.A summary of the report was provided highlighting that the ILACS is a 
system of inspection that allows Ofsted to be proportionate, flexible and 
bespoke to each area they inspect.

33. It was noted that as part of the meeting the Council set out progress from 
the last annual conversation (held in October 2017):

 Our Strategic Director of CWL was appointed September 2017 and we 
now have a stable senior leadership team.

 Our Early Help Service is now well embedded, caseload capacity has 
been increased and we have developed a single integrated Early Help 
Structure. 

 We have strengthened our Edge of Care service through the Complex 
CiN and Rapid Response Teams.

 Our Domestic Abuse services have been reviewed and a new service 
put in place.

 We have strengthened our performance management information to 
ensure comparator data is included and commentary provided.

 Regular service performance clinics ensure detailed scrutiny of data, 
and this now informs robust self-challenge and targets quality 
assurance work.

 We have reviewed the appropriateness and timeliness of all children 
who are looked after.

 The Jewish Community is now actively engaged in the safeguarding 
agenda through Local Safeguarding Children Board representation and 
safeguarding training with the Council.

 We have had our focused visit of the Care Leavers service in March 
2018.

34.The Board was also provided with a summary of areas identified for 
improvement in addition to key headlines from the feedback letter received 
following the annual conversation:

 Our self-evaluation describes very well the vision for children and 
families in Gateshead, including key service strengths and priorities for 
improvement.

 Ofsted reflected back the SEF could be enhanced with: less description 
about what has been done and more about what difference this has 
made for children and their families.

Page 46



7

 The data provided to support the SEF was seen as a good evidence 
base. They supported our objective to further develop performance 
management arrangements to provide more accurate real time 
information to assist front line managers’ oversight of practice.

 Our SEF and the discussion at the meeting provided a picture of an 
outward looking service seeking to learn from best practice, sector led 
improvement groups and local partners to improve outcomes for 
children and young people.

 Performance data reflects timely responses to key safeguarding activity 
(e.g. contacts and assessments). 

 We identified, and they recognised we have more to do to continue to 
improve the consistency of children’s plans.

 They supported that we are exploring ways to create more 
opportunities for children and young people to contribute to quality 
assurance processes. 

 Recognised that we are adapting services to challenging demands on 
statutory services by strengthening our early help and edge-of-care 
offer.

 Placement stability for LAC seen as a key strength, wherever possible 
we keep children in care living locally.

 Timeliness of Care Proceedings performance is good, but we need to 
ensure we are equally able to monitor performance for pre-
proceedings.

 The Educational Inclusion Panel (EIP), involving all secondary schools 
working together to reduce permanent exclusions and while there has 
been good progress, there remains more to do.

 Ofsted noted progress measures for 16-year old pupils suggest room 
for further improve in attainment given the above average outcomes in 
reading, writing and mathematics at the end of key stage 2.

35. It was noted that sector led work is being done regionally to prepare for 
Ofsted when they visit. It was further noted that the Council is being 
proactive in liaising with other Councils to share best practice and ways of 
working.

Annual Report on Permanent Exclusions (2017/18)

36.The Board received a report on the current position regarding permanent 
exclusions in Gateshead’s schools and strategies in place to address the 
issue.

37. It was noted that permanent exclusions had risen significantly since 
2013/14 and that Gateshead has excluded a higher proportion of its 
secondary aged pupils than its north east neighbours. A summary of 
permanent exclusions across both primary and secondary schools was 
provided. It showed that boys are more likely to be permanently excluded 
than girls in Gateshead which follows the national trend.

Page 47



8

38. It was noted that adverse early childhood experiences can lead to risk 
behaviours and drug/alcohol misuse which are some of the underlying 
reasons that give rise to permanent exclusions.

39.The Board were provided with a summary of strategies being used to 
address permanent exclusions which include ‘The Team Around the 
School’, Primary Behaviour Support Teams and making use of the online 
Kooth counselling service.

40. It was noted that following a three year upward trend, permanent 
exclusions reduced considerably in the 2017/18 academic year. Primary 
permanent exclusions reduced by 80% down from 5 in 2016/17 to 1 in 
2017/18 and secondary exclusions reduced by 37% down from 99 in 
2016/17 to 62 in 2017/18. Trends on exclusions will continue to be 
monitored closely.

Adult Mental Health – ‘Gateshead Newcastle Deciding Together, 
Delivering Together’

41.The Board considered an update report on the establishment of a cross 
organisational Deciding Together Delivery Group. Emerging priority areas 
of work that were identified included:

a) Easy access to the mental health system.
b) Development of an integrated physical, mental health and social care 

response for older people (including urgent response).
c) Redesign of older people mental health inpatient beds.
d) Redesign of adult mental health inpatient beds.
e) Provision of a safe haven hub.
f) Increased availability of short-term, non-hospital, crisis beds.
g) Development of a crisis and home based treatment service.

Personal Health Budgets Update

42.The Board considered a report advising how Newcastle Gateshead 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) will continuously develop the local 
offer for Personal Health Budgets.

43. It was noted that the NHS Five Year Forward View sets out a vision for the 
future NHS, including a new relationship with patients and communities 
that supports people to gain greater control of their own care when they 
need health services. A key part of this is developing how Personalised 
Care is offered to individuals.

44. It was highlighted that Personal Health Budgets offer people a chance to 
take as much or as little control over the care that they receive as they 
wish. It was noted that some individuals don’t want to have the 
responsibilities that come with having direct payment personal health 
budgets and have chosen to have a ‘notional’ personal health budget (this 

Page 48



9

option is attractive to those people who are happy with their care 
arrangements and want very little or nothing to change at present).

45. It was reported that the CCG has joined a mentorship programme and has 
shared best practice with Hull CCG. It participates in the North East 
Regional PHB Network and takes up opportunities to learn and share with 
CCGs around the country.  

Assurance Agenda

46.As part of the Board’s assurance agenda, the Board considered and 
endorsed:

- The Local Safeguarding Children’s Board Annual Report 2017/18 
and Business Plan 2018/19;

- The Health Protection Assurance Annual Report 2017/18.
- The quarterly returns to NHS England relating to the Better Care 

Fund Plan – quarters 2 and 3 of 2018/19.

Other Issues

47.Other issues considered by the Board included:

 Adverse Childhood Experiences: The Board supported the Council 
becoming an ‘ACE’ (Adverse Childhood Experiences) aware Council 
so that the wider workforce and partners understand the significant 
impact of ACEs on the health and wellbeing of Gateshead’s children 
and adults.

 Public Sector Reform Update: The Board received an update on the 
Council’s Public Service Reform work. 

 Consultation on Proposal to End the Sale of Energy Drinks to Children: 
The Board was consulted on a response to the Department of Health 
and Social Care’s consultation on ending the sale of energy drinks to 
children.

Recommendations

48.The views of OSC are sought on: 

(i) the update on the work of the Gateshead Health & Wellbeing Board 
for the six-month period October 2018 to March 2019, as set out in 
this report.

                 Contact:  John Costello (0191) 4332065 

Page 49



10
Page 50



     

TITLE OF REPORT: Annual Work Programme Review and Forward Plan
 
REPORT OF:           Sheena Ramsey, Chief Executive

Mike Barker, Strategic Director, Corporate Services 
& Governance

______________________________________________________________________
Summary

This report is set out in two parts. The first part highlights how the work of this Committee 
has helped influence / shape the development of policy /decision making / performance 
improvement work during 2018-19 and the second part details proposals for the 
development of the work programme for Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSCs) and 
sets out the provisional work programme for the Care Health and Wellbeing OSC for the 
municipal year 2019-20.
________________________________________________________________________

Annual Review 

1. During 2018-19 the OSC has sought to influence and shape policy development / 
decision making, performance improvement work via the following routes.

2. During this period the OSC’s recommendations relating to the OSC’s Review of 
Work to address the harms caused by tobacco have been implemented, following 
approval by Cabinet. The OSC has monitored progress on the implementation of 
these recommendations at its meeting on 11 December 2018. At that stage, the 
OSC recommendations had led to the Council, along with the other six Tyne and 
Wear local authorities, continuing to fund Fresh throughout 2019/20 as it was 
considered important to continue the development of hard-hitting mass media 
campaigns which have a strong evidence base in triggering quit attempts, 
encouraging quitters to stay quit, and reducing uptake among children. As the five 
Teeside authorities had or would be discontinuing their funding from April 2019 
Gateshead, along with the six other councils, had agreed to increase contributions 
to meet the shortfall in 2019/20.

3. In addition, it was noted that as part of the Thrive agenda, Public Health would be 
working to develop a systematic programme to embed a Health in All Policies 
approach from 2019. Discussions were also ongoing between Public Health and 
Learning and Schools to explore how NICE guidance on Smoking Prevention in 
Schools could be embedded and information was being shared at that time with 
schools via a “ Health resources” section at 
http://www.servicesforschoolsnortheast.org.uk/

4. The OSC had also learned that through the Making Every Contact Count (MECC) 
approach in Gateshead “Very Brief Advice (VBA) on Smoking” training had been 
delivered to staff and volunteers from the voluntary and community sector signed up 
to MECC. The training had also been delivered to over 100 housing staff from 
TGHC and staff from Gateshead Libraries and staff from the screening team at the 

CARE HEALTH & WELLBEING 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE
23 April 2019

Page 51

Agenda Item 8

http://www.servicesforschoolsnortheast.org.uk/


QE Hospital. This delivery of VBA training was ongoing as the roll out of Making 
Every Contact Count continued. The training focussed on the skills, knowledge and 
confidence to deliver brief interventions on stopping smoking and accessing the 
Stop Smoking Service, ecigarettes and second-hand smoke. 

5. The OSC also learned that the recommendations had led to the Board of the Queen 
Elizabeth NHS Foundation Hospital Trust nominating a Quality Improvement Lead 
to drive forward improvements in identifying and treating nicotine dependence. The 
Trust was being supported in doing this by staff from the Public Health team. The 
Local Maternity System (commissioners and providers working together to ensure 
that women, babies and families can access the services they need and choose) 
had also appointed a Regional Prevention Co-ordinator who had established 
smoking in pregnancy as a priority for action and this post holder would support the 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital to improve action on smoking in pregnancy.

6. The OSC indicated at that time that it was satisfied with the level of progress made 
and the future work outlined. The OSC will consider a further report in relation to 
progress against its recommendations at its meeting today.

7. During this period the OSC also carried out a Review of work to Help People Stay 
at Home Safely and will consider a report setting out its findings and 
recommendations at its meeting today. These recommendations will then be 
presented to a future Cabinet meeting for approval and, subject to these 
recommendations being agreed, the OSC will then monitor implementation of these 
recommendations during its 2019-20 work programme.

8. The OSC has monitored Council performance generally, in those areas falling 
within its remit, at its meetings on 19 June 2018 and 11 December 2018 and 
Cabinet has had regard to the OSC’s views when considering Council performance 
overall.

9. The OSC has also monitored progress in relation to the following specific areas of 
performance and the OSC’s comments have been fed into the improvement work 
progressed by relevant service areas and fed back to relevant partners. 

 Social Services Annual Report on Complaints and Representations

10. In addition, this OSC has been formally consulted as a stakeholder by Sunderland 
Clinical Commissioning Group on proposed changes to urgent care services in 
Sunderland. At that time, the OSC raised concerns that the proposals would place 
extra pressure on the Queen Elizabeth Hospital and Gateshead GP’s but received 
reassurances that extra provision/capacity was being put in place to cope with the 
increase. The OSC’s views were fed back to Sunderland CCG and the North of 
England Commissioning Support team supporting the CCG confirmed the 
comments would be incorporated in the final feedback report on the consultation.

11.This OSC has also been consulted by Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust on 
two occasions on proposals relating to an exit strategy for St Bede’s Day Care 
Services and the Younger Persons Dementia Unit which were situated at the 
Dunston Hill site. At that time, the OSC sought reassurances that the main driver for 
the proposals was not financial and was assured that this was not the case. The 
OSC also sought to understand how services users had been engaged in respect of 
the proposals and what the Trust had done or was doing to mitigate against any 

Page 52



potential negative impacts on service users arising from the proposals. Councillors 
on the OSC also carried out a site visit to the Dunston Hill Site to assist them in 
their understanding of the actual condition of the site. The OSC subsequently 
indicated that it was satisfied with the consultation carried out by the Trust and that 
the proposals outlined in relation to both services were in the interests of the local 
health service. The OSC did, however, seek assurances that the Trust would 
continue to work with services users at St Bede’s Day Care Services and Adult 
Social Care and other relevant organisations to ensure that their needs were met 
and they had ongoing support to make an effective transition to other services. The 
OSC requested that the Trust come back to the OSC in approximately six months’ 
time to update on progress in relation to the implementation of the proposals. 
Representatives of the Trust are attending the OSC meeting today to provide the 
requested update.

12.The OSC has also been informed of proposals to amalgamate GP practice sites at 
Dunston Health Centre and Glenpark Medical Practice into one purpose built 
medical centre and provided with details on the engagement carried out with 
patients and stakeholders. The OSC noted that the engagement exercise showed 
overwhelming support for the proposals.

13.The OSC’s views have also been sought and provided on the Quality Accounts for 
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust and Northumberland Tyne and Wear 
NHS Foundation Trust for 2017-18.

Development of 2018-19 Work Programme

14.Every year each Overview and Scrutiny Committee draws up a work programme 
based on the Council’s policy framework which is then agreed by the Council as 
part of the policy planning process.

15.The Committee’s work programme is a rolling programme which sets the agenda 
for its six weekly meetings. It is the means by which it can address the interests of 
the local community, focus on improving services and seek to reduce inequalities in 
service provision and access to services.

16.Under the Council’s constitution the issues which will be considered by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees come from a number of sources:
 During the year the Committee may choose to scrutinise decisions made by the 

Cabinet to ensure decisions are taken properly;
 The Committee may be requested by the Cabinet to carry out reviews of 

particular issues in accordance with the Council’s policy priorities;
 The Committee will receive six-monthly reports on performance for comment to 

Cabinet;
 The Committee will receive reports on relevant service improvement reviews at 

key stages of development to confirm to Cabinet that reviews are progressing 
appropriately;

 Section 119 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
and Section 126 of the Police and Criminal Justice Act 2006 enable any member 
of the Council to refer to a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee any local 
government matter and any crime and disorder matter which affects their ward 
or constituents 

 Members of the Committee may identify particular issues for consideration;

Page 53



 Members may also examine issues in the Council’s Forward Plan; and
 In addition, where the Committee has reasonable concerns about a particular 

executive decision the call-in mechanism is available.
 

17.This year OSC members have been involved in shaping the focus of the work of 
specific OSCs via email and provided with an opportunity to comment on the 
emerging themes for specific OSCs at the scheduled January OSC meetings. The 
emerging themes have taken account of key performance issues / challenges / 
legislative changes affecting the work of the Council within the forthcoming twelve 
months which fall within the specific remits of each OSC and the 5 pledges under 
the Thrive agenda:-
 Put people and families at the heart of everything that we do
 Tackle inequality so people have a fair chance
 Support our communities to support themselves and each other
 Invest in our economy to provide sustainable opportunities for employment, 

innovation and growth across the borough.
 Work together and fight for a better future for Gateshead

18.Subsequently, the Council has consulted partner organisations on the emerging 
themes for each OSC for 2019-20 and partners have indicated that they are 
supportive of the emerging themes.

19.The attached provisional work programme (Appendix 1) has therefore taken 
account of the following:-
 Six-monthly performance reporting
 The Thrive agenda and the Council Plan and partnership work generally
 Current issues referred to Committees
 Details of potential review topics/case studies
 Legislative provisions and guidance on the Councillor Call for Action

20.The work programme remains provisional as:-
 Cabinet has not had the opportunity to fully review its work programme and it 

may wish to refer further issues to Overview and Scrutiny Committees for further 
consideration;

 It does not take account of new policy issues which may be identified during the 
year, which Cabinet may refer to Overview and Scrutiny; and

 It does not include issues identified by members of committees on an ongoing 
basis during the year as a result of scrutiny of decisions, call – in and councillor 
call for action.

  
Recommendations

21.The Committee is asked to:-
a) Note the information contained in the annual review and provide any comments.
b) Endorse the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s provisional work programme 

for 2019 - 20 attached at Appendix 1 and refer it to Council on 23 May 2019             
for agreement.

c) Note that further reports will be brought to the Committee to identify any 
additional issues which the Committee may be asked to consider.

Contact:     Angela Frisby                            Ext:     2138

Page 54



Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1
Draft Care, Health & Well-being OSC 2019/20
25 June 19  Constitution (to note)

 Role and Remit (to note)
 Making Gateshead a place where everyone 

thrives – Year End Assessment and 
Performance Delivery 2018-19

 OSC Review of Suicide– Scoping Report 
10 Sept 19  OSC Review of Suicide – Evidence Gathering

 Monitoring - OSC Review - Helping People to 
Stay at Home Safely 

 Annual Report of Local Adult Safeguarding 
Board and Business Plans 

 Social Services Annual Report on Complaints 
and Representations – Adults 

 Work Programme
29 Oct 19  OSC Review –Evidence Gathering

 Green Paper on Adult Social Care -Council 
Response

 Gateshead Healthwatch Interim Report 
 Health & Well-Being Board Progress Update
 Work programme

10 Dec 19  OSC Review – Evidence Gathering
 Making Gateshead a place where everyone 

thrives – Six Monthly Assessment of 
Performance and Delivery 2019 -20 

 Sepsis Prevention- Case Study 
 Work Programme

28 Jan 20  OSC Review –- Evidence Gathering
 Drug Related Deaths 
 Work Programme

3 Mar 20  OSC Review –- Interim Report 
 Gateshead Healthwatch 
 Support for Carers (Adults) 
 Work Programme

21 April 20  OSC Review of Suicide–Final Report
 Monitoring - OSC Review - Helping People to 

Stay at Home Safely 
 Health and Well-Being Board – Progress 

Update 
 OSC Work Programme Review

Issues to slot in
 Universal Credit – Impact on Emotional Health and Wellbeing (possible joint 

meeting with other OSCs) 
 Deciding Together Delivering Together – Progress Updates / Potential 

Consultation
 Impact of any health transformations on adult services. 
 Quality Accounts - Gateshead Health NHS Trust and NTW NHS Foundation Trust 

and South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust
 ICS Updates - as appropriate. 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of last meeting
	3 Gateshead Healthwatch Update and Healthwatch Continuing Care Recommendations
	5 Review of Work to Help People Stay at Home Safely - Final Report
	6 Work to Address the Harms Caused by Tobacco - Update on Recommendations
	7 Health and Wellbeing Board - Progress Update
	8 Annual Work Programme Review and Forward Plan
	Draft Work Programme Appendix 19-20v2


